RECEIVED

01-19-2016

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT No. 2013AP1724

STATE OF WISCONSIN ex rel. AMAN SINGH,

Petitioner-Appellant-Petitioner,

v.

PAUL KEMPER, Warden, Racine Correctional Institution,

Respondent-Respondent-Cross-Petitioner.

On Petition for Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District II Appeal from the Circuit Court for Racine County Honorable Gerald P. Ptacek presiding Racine County Circuit Court Case No. 2013CV001540

BRIEF OF PETITIONER-APPELLANT-PETITIONER AMAN SINGH

	Thomas L. Shriner, Jr., Bar No. 1015208 Brett H. Ludwig, Bar No. 1024271 Philip C. Babler, Bar No. 1070437
	FOLEY & LARDNER LLP

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether Wis. Stat. § 973.198, which changed the role the sentencing court plays in reviewing prisoners' potential early release based on positive adjustment time, is unconstitutional.

Answered by the Court of Appeals: The court held that "Singh has not convinced us that this procedural change violates the ex post facto clauses." *Singh v. Kemper,* 2014 WI App 43, ¶20, 353 Wis. 2d 520, 846 N.W.2d 820.

Answered by the Circuit Court: This issue, as formulated by this Court, was not presented to the Circuit Court. (R. 1, App.25, R. 10, App.24.)

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The Court hears argument and publishes its decision in all of its cases, and this case, which involves the constitutionality of legislative changes to Wisconsin's sentencing system, should be no exception.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This case is about the constitutionality of Wis. Stat. § 973.198 under the *ex post facto* clauses of the state and federal constitutions. Wis. Const. Art. I, sec. 12; U.S. Const. Art. I, sec. 10, cl. 1. Since 2009, certain individuals sentenced under Wisconsin's Truth-in-Sentencing laws have been able to earn "positive adjustment time," a type of sentence reduction credit based on an inmate's good behavior during his incarceration. Inmates who earn positive adjustment time are eligible for release before they have served the full term of their sentence of confinement.

Before Wis. Stat. § 973.198 was enacted in 2011, persons who had earned positive adjustment time would be released on the first date they were eligible for release (their Eligibility Date) following a process that began up to 90 days before the projected Eligibility Date. *E.g.*, Wis. Stat. § 302.113(2)(c)1. (2009-10). Under Wis. Stat. § 973.198, which applies retroactively, those *same individuals* who are eligible for early release cannot *start* the process necessary to realize the benefit of the positive adjustment time they have earned until their Eligibility Date. So, rather than being released on their Eligibility Date, these inmates are not permitted to petition the circuit court until that day; they are actually released up to 90 days *later*. This change necessarily results in a later release and longer incarceration. Wisconsin Stat. § 973.198 is, therefore, an *ex post facto* law that violates the state and federal constitutions.

This issue reaches this Court on review of a decision on appeal from the denial of habeas corpus. Petitioner-Appellant-Petitioner Aman Singh (Mr. Singh) petitioned the Racine County Circuit Court for a writ of habeas corpus after the Department of Corrections refused to process his request for release based on positive adjustment time. Even though Mr. Singh was convicted for one crime committed while the 2009 law was in effect, and sentenced for another, the Department of Corrections determined that he was ineligible for positive adjustment time because the positive-adjustment statute was repealed before Mr. Singh served any time in prison. The Court of Appeals held that Mr. Singh *was* entitled to earn positive adjustment time throughout his sentence, because the repeal statute was an *ex post facto* law to that extent, but the court, without the benefit of adversarial briefing, held that he was required to use the Wis. Stat. § 973.198 procedure to be released on positive adjustment time and that this procedure did not violate the constitutional provisions.

Factual and Statutory Background

This case involves the Legislature's implementation and repeal of Wisconsin's system of "positive adjustment time," which was a form of good-time credit that could be earned, beginning in 2009. In the 2009 budget bill, the Legislature enacted a positive adjustment time system under which certain offenders could earn sentence-reduction credit and be eligible for early release. *See* 2009 Wis. Act 28. The new positive adjustment time law applied retroactively. 2009 Wis. Act 28, § 9311.

In 2011, the Legislature repealed that positive adjustment time system. 2011 Wis. Act 38, § 100. The Legislature purported to make the repeal effective retroactively—so that individuals who had been convicted and sentenced under the 2009 Act, those who committed crimes while the 2009 Act was in effect, and those already in prison before the 2009 Act would no longer be able to earn positive adjustment time—but the Court of Appeals held that the Legislature could not repeal the law retroactively because of the *ex post facto* clauses. *Singh v. Kemper*, 2014 WI App 43, ¶¶6-19, 353 Wis. 2d 520, 846 N.W.2d 820. The Court of Appeals was correct, as will be shown in Mr. Singh's brief on the Warden's cross-petition.

Mr. Singh contends here that an additional part of the 2011 Act—Wis. Stat. § 973.198—is also an *ex post facto* law because the statute delays by roughly 90 days the date when inmates who have earned positive adjustment time are released from prison, and it changes the standard that circuit courts apply in reviewing early release. Below is a more detailed recounting of the history of Wisconsin's adoption and repeal of positive adjustment time.

Wisconsin Replaces Its Indeterminate Sentencing System With "Truth-in-Sentencing."

The necessary context for the statutory changes at issue in this case begins before 2000, when Wisconsin law employed what is known as an "indeterminate" sentencing system. *See generally* Michael B. Brennan & Donald V. Latorraca, *Truth-in-Sentencing*, WIS. LAWYER, Vol. 73, No. 5 (May 2000). Under that system, persons convicted of a crime could be given an indeterminate sentence of "imprisonment." A prisoner serving an indeterminate sentence might be released on parole as soon as 25% of the way through his sentence and as late as two-thirds of the way through his sentence, in the discretion of the Parole Commission. *Id.; see also* Wis. Stat. § 304.06(1)(b); Wis. Stat. § 302.11. The Parole

Commission exercised substantial discretion to determine whether an inmate was eligible for parole before the presumptive release date. *See generally Gendrich v. Litscher*, 2001 WI App 163, ¶¶7-9, 246 Wis. 2d 814, 632 N.W.2d 878.

In 1998, Wisconsin adopted "Truth-in-Sentencing," a new system that governed sentences for crimes committed on or after December 31, 1999. See 1997 Wis. Act 283. In so doing, Wisconsin joined several other states, Paula M. Ditton & Doris James Wilson, Truth in Sentencing in State Prisons, BUREAU OF JUSTICE STATISTICS SPECIAL REPORT, U.S. DEP'T OF JUSTICE (Jan. 1999), and was reacting to a public perception that the discretion of parole boards created too much uncertainty in the sentencing process. Michael B. Brennan & Donald V. Latorraca, *Truth-in-Sentencing*, WIS. LAWYER, Vol. 73, No. 5 (May 2000) ("In recent years many citizens have become concerned that parole and other forms of early release have resulted in a criminal justice system in which many offenders serve less than

one-half of their sentences. To provide greater public safety and restore confidence in the criminal justice system the Wisconsin Legislature passed and the governor signed into law 1997 Wis. Act 283, which brought Truth-in-Sentencing to Wisconsin.").

Those sentenced under Truth-in-Sentencing receive a "bifurcated sentence" that has two parts: a term of "confinement" and a term of "extended supervision." Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2). The "truth" in "Truth-in-Sentencing" denotes that they will be in prison for the entire initial period of confinement. *See e.g.*, Wis. Stat. § 973.01(4) (2013-14). They then serve a period of "extended supervision," when they are subject to department of corrections supervision. *See e.g.*, Wis. Stat. § 302.113(7m), (7r), (8m). Extended supervision differs from parole in that the start date for extended supervision is set by the sentencing court at the beginning of the sentence, rather than by a parole board later.

Truth-in-Sentencing worked a fundamental change to sentencing. Truth-in-Sentencing is unquestionably harsher than indeterminate sentencing, in that the term of initial confinement is generally served in its entirety. Wis. Stat. § 973.01(4). Offenders sentenced for crimes committed under Truth-in-Sentencing cannot ask the Parole Commission to grant them a discretionary early release, as they could before. *See State v. Hall*, 2002 WI App 108, ¶20 n.10, 255 Wis. 2d 662, 648 N.W.2d 41.

Wisconsin's Truth-in-Sentencing system has been a work-inprogress from the beginning. The Legislature adopted the bifurcated sentencing system in 1998, 1997 Wis. Act 283, but its effective date was postponed until December 31, 1999. *Id.* "Although Act 283 speaks in some detail about the new type of sentence, it is evident that the legislature did not envision the law going into effect without considerable supplementation." Michael B. Brennan, Thomas J. Hammer & Donald V. Latorraca, *Fully* *Implementing Truth-in-Sentencing,* WIS. LAWYER, Vol. 75, No. 11 (Nov. 2002). Substantial modifications to Truth-in-Sentencing took effect on February 1, 2003, fully implementing the new penalty structure. *See id.; see also* 2001 Wis. Act 109.

2009: Wisconsin Partially Reverts Toward an Indeterminate Sentencing System.

In 2009, as part of its biennial budget, 2009 Wis. Act 28 (the 2009 Act), the Legislature overhauled the Truth-in-Sentencing system again, creating several early release opportunities, in a partial return to Wisconsin's pre-Truth-in-Sentencing, indeterminate sentencing system. *See generally* Michael B. Brennan, *The Pendulum Swings: No More Early Release*, WIS. LAWYER, Vol. 84, No. 9 (Sept. 2011).

One of these new opportunities for early release was "positive adjustment time," under Wis. Stat. §§ 302.113(2)(b) and 304.06(1)(bg) (2009-10), which rewarded prisoners for good behavior in prison. Inmates convicted of non-violent, lower-class felonies were able to earn more positive adjustment time than those convicted of more serious crimes. For example, under § 302.113(2)(b), individuals like Mr. Singh who were convicted of non-violent Class F to Class I felonies¹ could earn credit for up to one third of their sentences (one day for every two days of time served with good behavior):

> An inmate sentenced under s. 973.01 for a misdemeanor or for a Class F to Class I felony that is not a violent offense . . . may earn one day of positive adjustment time for every 2 days served that he or she does not violate any regulation of the prison or does not refuse or neglect to perform required or assigned duties. An inmate convicted of a misdemeanor or a Class F to Class I felony that is not a violent offense . . . shall be released to extended supervision when he or she has served the term of confinement in prison portion of his or her bifurcated sentence, as modified by the sentencing court . . . less positive adjustment time that he or she has earned.

¹ The sentence range for these felonies was twelve and a half years (Class F) to three and a half years (Class I). Wis. Stat. \S 939.50(3)(f)-(i).

Wis. Stat. § 302.113(2)(b) (2009-10). Positive adjustment time had the effect of converting a portion of the term of confinement into a longer period of extended supervision. Wis. Stat. § 302.113(3)(e) (2009-10) ("If an inmate is released to extended supervision under sub. (2) (b) . . . the term of extended supervision is increased so that the total length of the bifurcated sentence does not change."). So if a prisoner earned 30 days of positive adjustment time and was, therefore, released 30 days before the end of his sentence of confinement, he would have 30 extra days of extended supervision.

Some prisoners ineligible for positive adjustment time under § 302.113(2)(b) could nevertheless earn credit under § 304.06(1)(bg)1., which provided a reduction of up to one quarter of a sentence (one day credit for every three days of time served with good behavior):

> A person sentenced . . . for a Class F to Class I felony or a misdemeanor that is not a violent offense . . . and who is ineligible for positive adjustment time under s.

302.113 (2) (b) . . . or for a Class F to Class I felony that is a violent offense . . . may earn one day of positive adjustment time for every 3 days served that he or she does not violate any regulation of the prison or does not refuse or neglect to perform required or assigned duties. The person may petition the earned release review commission for release to extended supervision when he or she has served the term of confinement in prison portion of his or her bifurcated sentence, as modified by the sentencing court . . . less positive adjustment time he or she has earned.

Wis. Stat. § 304.06(1)(bg)1. (2009-10).² Whether the Legislature could

retroactively repeal those two positive adjustment time statutes and

other early release provisions is the subject of the Warden's cross-

petition. The issue on this petition involves the timing of the actual

² Mr. Singh, convicted of a non-violent Class H felony, was eligible for positive adjustment time under Wis. Stat. § 302.113(2)(b). Wisconsin Stat. § 304.06(1)(bg) provided positive adjustment time for those not eligible under § 302.113(2). So, if Mr. Singh were not eligible under § 302.113(2), he would be eligible under § 304.06(1)(bg)1. Some offenders convicted of higher class felonies could earn positive adjustment time under Wis. Stat. § 304.06(1)(bg)2. This Court's decision on Wis. Stat. § 973.198 will apply to that section as well.

release once the inmate has earned enough positive adjustment time to warrant release.

Critically for the issue accepted in Mr. Singh's petition for review, those who qualified for positive adjustment time under the 2009 Act would be released on what, for purposes of this briefing, we will call the "Eligibility Date." When an inmate had earned enough positive adjustment time so that:

(time served)
+ (positive adjustment time earned)
= (original confinement portion of bifurcated sentence)

the inmate was released. *E.g.*, Wis. Stat. § 302.113(2)(b) (2009-10) (emphasis added) ("An inmate . . . shall be released to extended supervision *when* he or she has served the term of confinement . . . less positive adjustment time he or she has earned."). That is, an inmate was released *on* his Eligibility Date.

In order for an inmate to be released on the Eligibility Date, a process was set in motion 90 days *before* the Eligibility Date. For

positive adjustment time under § 302.113(2)(b), the department of corrections³ notified "the sentencing court" of the plan "to modify the inmate's sentence" when the inmate was "within 90 days of release to extended supervision," accounting for accrued and projected positive adjustment time. Wis. Stat. § 302.113(2)(c)1. (2009-10). The sentencing court then had 30 days to decide *whether* to hold a hearing on the inmate's release and 60 days (from the notice) to hold that review hearing. Wis. Stat. §§ 302.113(2)(c)1. and 302.113(2)(c)2.a. (2009-10). Therefore, the court-review process would conclude 30 days *before* the Eligibility Date. If the sentencing court decided not to hold a review hearing, the department of corrections would release the inmate on the Eligibility Date. Wis. Stat. § 302.113(2)(c)1.

The sentencing court could hold a review hearing to doublecheck the department's calculations of positive adjustment time or to

³ See Wis. Stat. § 301.01 (definitions).

determine whether any of three statutory criteria justified preventing an inmate's early release: the inmate's conduct in prison, his risk of reoffending under an evidence-based instrument, or the nature of his crime. Wis. Stat. § 302.113(2)(c)2.b. (listing factors). But the default provision under the statute was release in the absence of court action, and the circuit court was required to conclude its review 30 days before the projected Eligibility Date. Wis. Stat. § $302.113(2)(c)1.^4$

The 2009 Act applied both prospectively and retroactively. 2009 Wis. Act 28, § 9311 ("the statutes first apply to a person sentenced on December 31, 1999."). Individuals already convicted of

⁴ Court review of early release under Wis. Stat. § 304.06(1)(bg)'s positive adjustment time contained parallel requirements that the sentencing court be notified "within 90 days of release," accounting for positive adjustment time, and the sentencing court had the same 30 days from notice to decide whether to hold a hearing and 60 days from notice to hold that hearing. Wis. Stat. § 304.06(1)(bk) (2009-10). But the latter statute was administered by the earned release review commission, Wis. Stat. § 304.06(1)(bg)1., which did retain some discretion to review petitions from prisoners requesting that they be released on their Eligibility Date, *id.* ("The person may petition the earned release review commission for release").

crimes before June 30, 2009, when the 2009 Act took effect, were eligible to begin earning positive adjustment time. Thus, the 2009 Act had the effect of mitigating punishment for persons already convicted of crimes.⁵ Those who committed crimes after June 30, 2009 had an expectation that the confinement portion of their sentence, whatever it would be, could be shortened by one-third through positive adjustment time. As was the case before passage of the Truth-in-Sentencing law, inmates could be released before their sentence was finished—as early as two-thirds of the way through a confinement sentence, as a reward for good behavior.

2011: The Wisconsin Legislature Tries to Undo Its 2009 Adoption of Positive Adjustment Time.

Just two years after adopting the positive adjustment time system, the Legislature repealed it and purported to do so retroactively. In 2011 Wisconsin Act 38 (the 2011 Act), the

⁵ Indeed, the Legislature contemplated that positive adjustment time would apply *only* retroactively, *e.g.*, 2009 Wis. Act 28, § 2722, and the Governor's line item veto made the law applicable prospectively too, *id*.

Legislature made several changes to sentencing and corrections law that reversed much of what it had done in the 2009 Act and returned to the harsher Truth-in-Sentencing regime. Notably, under the 2011 Act, the Legislature repealed Wis. Stat. §§ 302.113(2)(b) and 304.06(1)(bg), the positive adjustment time statutes. 2011 Wis. Act 38, §§ 38 and 58.

In the Act's initial applicability section, § 100 of the Act, the Legislature provided that the Act applies retroactively for all individuals sentenced after December 31, 1999, except it preserved "positive adjustment time earned on or after October 1, 2009, but before the effective date of this subsection." 2011 Wis. Act 38, § 100. The Act was published on August 2, so its effective date was August 3, 2011. 2011 Wis. Act 38; *see* Wis. Stat. § 991.11. Therefore, what the Legislature purported to do (but the Court of Appeals held that it could not do constitutionally) was to repeal positive adjustment time, not only for those who committed crimes after August 2, 2011, but also for those who committed crimes before August 3, 2011, for whom the 2009 Act applied, either based on when they committed their crimes or as a result of the 2009 Act's retroactive application. For these latter groups of individuals, the Legislature attempted to preserve only the positive adjustment time earned before August 3, 2011, and not the right to earn positive adjustment time throughout the sentence.

To account for the positive adjustment time earned between October 1, 2009 and August 3, 2011, the Legislature repealed the court-review provisions of Wis. Stat. §§ 302.113(2)(c) and 304.06(1)(bk), 2011 Wis. Act 38, §§ 39, 59, and replaced them with Wis. Stat. § 973.198, 2011 Wis. Act 38, § 96.

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