RECEIVED

02-15-2016

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT No. 2013AP1724

STATE OF WISCONSIN ex rel. AMAN SINGH,

Petitioner-Appellant-Petitioner,

v.

PAUL KEMPER, Warden, Racine Correctional Institution,

Respondent-Respondent-Cross-Petitioner.

On Petition for Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District II Appeal from the Circuit Court for Racine County Honorable Gerald P. Ptacek presiding Racine County Circuit Court Case No. 2013CV001540

RESPONSE BRIEF OF PETITIONER-APPELLANT-PETITIONER AMAN SINGH

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

These *ex post facto* principles are particularly applicable in the context of convictions following guilty pleas, like Mr. Singh's Waukesha County conviction. Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. 24, 32 (1981) ("We have previously recognized that a prisoner's eligibility for reduced imprisonment is a significant factor entering into both the defendant's decision to plea bargain and the judge's calculation of the sentence to be imposed."). The law as it stood when Mr. Singh pleaded guilty to the one crime the Warden discusses in his brief, the Class H felony in Waukesha County Case No. 08CF1368, permitted those convicted of a Class H felony to earn positive adjustment time. The elimination of positive adjustment time *after* Mr. Singh's plea and sentencing on the 2008 case is as unconstitutional as the retroactive elimination of positive

adjustment time after Mr. Singh committed the offense underlying the Class H felony conviction in Milwaukee County Case No. 11CF4004.

Yet the Warden attempts to push aside these "animating principles." His argument, if taken to its logical end, would permit someone to be convicted after pleading guilty, to be sentenced under the law in effect when he was sentenced, and then to have his punishment retroactively increased (by the Legislature taking away his right to early release), as long as the total sentence he would serve is no longer than the maximum permitted sentence when the crime was committed. (*See* Brief at 6, 9, 18.)

But *ex post facto* protection extends further than the Warden would have it. For cases involving changes to early release—be it parole, good time credit, or other forms of early release—the time of sentencing also is a relevant time period for the *ex post facto* inquiry. *State ex rel. Eder v. Matthews*, 115 Wis. 2d 129, 133, 340 N.W.2d 66 (Ct. App. 1983) (emphasis added) ("A law which increases or alters the punishment of an offender to his detriment, after he has been convicted and sentenced, constitutes an ex post facto law prohibited by Wis. Const. art. I, § 12 and U.S. Const. art. I, § 10."); State ex rel. Mueller v. Powers, 64 Wis. 2d 643, 645, 221 N.W.2d 692 (1974) (emphasis added) ("Petitioners contend that the statute relating to parole eligibility in force at the time petitioners were convicted and sentenced would authorize their eligibility for parole following the service of two years' imprisonment, whereas the current statute . . . would extend such period to five years. Petitioners maintain that . . . insofar as it is being applied retrospectively to them by the respondents, it constitutes an *ex post facto* law ").³ Thus, the Court of Appeals was not making up out of whole cloth the "five words" that the

³ This Court did not, as the Warden contends (Brief at 16-17), hold in *State v*. *Thiel*, 188 Wis. 2d 695, 524 N.W.2d 641 (1994), that *Mueller's* focus on the time a defendant is "convicted and sentenced" is irrelevant for *ex post facto* analysis. In *Thiel*, this Court withdrew language that any laws "that alter the situation of the accused to his or her disadvantage" are *ex post facto* laws. *Thiel* did not change *Mueller's* focus on the relevance of sentencing.

Warden challenges. Instead, it was correctly applying (virtually quoting) decades of *ex post facto* jurisprudence. *See Singh v. Kemper*, 353 Wis. 2d 520, ¶9. If this Court were to modify the "five words" in the decision below, the Court would be upsetting far more than this one decision before it on review.

In *Eder*, the Court of Appeals held that changes to good time credit after parole revocation were an *ex post facto* law. *State ex rel. Eder v. Matthews*, 115 Wis. 2d 129. Changes to parole eligibility by their very nature relate to the post-sentencing changes rather than solely post-conviction changes. *See Eder*, 115 Wis. 2d at 133 (emphasis added) ("A law which increases or alters the punishment of an offender to his detriment, *after he has been convicted and sentenced*, constitutes an ex post facto law prohibited by Wis. Const. art. I, § 12 and U.S. Const. art. I, § 10.").

The time of sentencing is relevant to the *ex post facto* analysis because eligibility for parole and other early release are inextricably tied to the sentence imposed, and that sentence is lengthened when the right to parole or early release is retroactively taken away. *Cf. Warden v. Marrero*, 417 U.S. 653, 658 (1974) ("Similarly, a pragmatic view of sentencing requires the conclusion that parole eligibility . . . is also determined at the time of sentence. . . . [P]arole eligibility is a function of the length of the sentence fixed by the district judge."); *see also Garner*, 529 U.S. at 258 (Scalia, J. concurring) ("A statutory parole system that reduces a prisoner's sentence by fixed amounts of time for good behavior during incarceration can realistically be viewed as an entitlement—a reduction of the prescribed penalty rather than a discretionary grant of leniency.").

In cases from *Eder* to *Weaver*, and others, the date of a plea or sentencing is as relevant to the *ex post facto* analysis as the date when an individual committed a crime. Retroactive and disadvantageous changes to the length of a sentence, or the right to early release, enacted after a crime is committed but before an person is sentenced plainly violate the *ex post facto* clauses, as the Warden concedes. (*See* Brief at 6-9.) But changes to the early release laws after a person has been sentenced under those laws presents the same *ex post facto* problem. The Warden does not even acknowledge *Eder*, which was one of the cases, together with *Weaver* (which he also ignores), that the Court of Appeals relied on in applying its decision to Mr. Singh's Waukesha County conviction. *See Singh v. Kemper*, 353 Wis. 2d 520, ¶9. Yet, adopting the Warden's position would require overruling *Eder* as well as *Mueller*.

When parole eligibility and other early release credits are at stake, it ultimately does not matter how a person's *actual* sentence served compares to the *maximum* sentence he faced when the crime was committed. Courts do not look simply at whether the total sentence served is within the possible range of sentences that a person could have received when he was convicted. *See Lindsey*, 301 U.S. at 400-02. That is, it is not a condition precedent to finding an *ex*

25

post facto violation that the person be serving a longer sentence than the maximum he faced when he committed a crime. *See id.* Courts simply look at whether a sentence is increased by later-passed laws. *Weaver v. Graham*, 450 U.S. 24; *Mueller*, 64 Wis. 2d 643. After-the-fact sentence enhancement violates the *ex post facto* clauses whether it occurs between the crime and sentencing or after sentencing.

This case is unique in the context of *ex post facto* jurisprudence in that after the crime was committed the Legislature mitigated a punishment and then after Mr. Singh was convicted and sentenced it tried to undo that mitigation. Boiled down, though not framed quite this way by the Warden, the question presented is whether it is true under the *ex post facto* clauses that what the Legislature gives (in the form of retroactive mitigation for punishments) it cannot take away. As discussed in Part II.A, *supra*, the answer is "yes" as a matter of Wisconsin statutory law. As a matter of constitutional law, when one pleads guilty and accepts the mitigated punishment, the answer is also a resounding "yes." *See Weaver*, 450 U.S. at 32; *Mueller*, 64 Wis. 2d 643.

The Warden relies on language in five cases to argue that the *ex post facto* clauses are concerned with the time when a crime is committed. Again, Mr. Singh does not dispute the principle that a Legislature cannot change the law to increase punishment for an offense after the offense is committed. But the protections of the *ex post facto* clauses, as explained above, go further than that. In none of the Warden's five cases did the respective court hold that a person can be sentenced under a mitigated sentencing system in effect when he was sentenced, but that later the Legislature can constitutionally increase the length of that sentence retroactively by making the person ineligible for early release. That narrow question is the precise issue raised by the cross petition.

The Warden relies primarily on *Kurzawa*, which, on first blush, contains some language that supports his argument. But a careful

reading of the case shows that it does not limit *ex post facto* protections in the way that the Warden contends. *Kurzawa* was not a true *ex post facto* case. 180 Wis. 2d at 511. Instead, it involved the principle that due process parallels *ex post facto* protection, to a certain extent, in that due process prevents the retroactive application of certain judicial decisions if they substantially change the definition of criminal conduct after the conduct has occurred. *Id.* Specifically, Kurzawa argued that double-jeopardy protections in cases after he committed his crime afforded him a defense to prosecution and that those cases could not be retroactively overruled to permit him to be prosecuted. *Id.* at 514.

This Court's analysis in *Kurzawa* does not bear at all on the question of whether the *Legislature* can take away the right to earn early release after a person pleads guilty and is sentenced under a system under which early release credits are available to him, thereby increasing a punishment after it is imposed. If a favorable

precedent is issued and repealed all within the time between the commission of a crime and when the defendant stands trial for it, due process has not been violated. That is the limited holding of *Kurzawa*.

Kurzawa's holding is consistent with the underlying principles of the *ex post facto* clauses. Kurzawa neither committed a crime nor accepted a punishment under the supposedly mitigated intervening case law. He did not lack the "fair warning" required by the clause. Nor was the intervening case capricious or otherwise the type of legislative mischief that the clause prohibits. *James v. United States*, 366 U.S. 213, 247 n.3 (1960) (Harlan, J. concurring in part and dissenting in part) ("Aside from problems of warning and specific intent, the policy of the prohibition against *ex post facto* legislation would seem to rest on the apprehension that the legislature, in imposing penalties on past conduct, even though the conduct could properly have been made criminal and even though the defendant

who engaged in that conduct in the past believed he was doing wrong (as for instance when the penalty is increased retroactively on an existing crime), may be acting with a purpose not to prevent dangerous conduct generally but to impose by legislation a penalty against specific persons or classes of persons.").⁴ But fair warning is lacking when a person pleads guilty to a crime and is eligible for positive adjustment time then, but his eligibility is taken away after plea and sentence. *Weaver*, 450 U.S. at 32.

The Warden's other four cases, *Garner*, *Peugh*, *Lindsey*, and *Morales*—each cited by the Court of Appeals—do involve the interplay between sentencing, or sentencing adjustments, and *ex post*

⁴ The Warden does not rely on *Lynce v. Mathis*, 519 U.S. 433 (1997), which contains dicta to the same effect as *Kurzawa. See id.* at 449 (there may be "force" to the argument that the federal *ex post facto* clause does not prohibit the cancellation of good time credit first awarded after person was incarcerated). *Lynce*'s dicta do not control here because the Court ultimately rejected the argument that the *ex post facto* clause permitted the retroactive repeal of good-time credit that had been granted. The Court's suggestion that the state *might* be able to grant discretionary good-time credit to individuals already incarcerated and then cancel a portion of those credits does not reflect the actual holding of the case, nor does it fit the facts here.

facto law, unlike *Kurzawa*. But while each of these cases refers to the time when a crime was committed, none of them permits a state to increase a sentence after it has already been imposed. *Garner* involved a change to the frequency of parole hearings. *Garner v. Jones*, 529 U.S. 244 (2000). *Morales*, before it, involved the same thing. *California Dep't of Corrections v. Morales*, 514 U.S. 499 (1995). *Lindsey* involved a change to a state's sentencing framework that made maximum sentences mandatory sentences. *Lindsey v. Washington*, 301 U.S. 397 (1937).

Peugh is the most on-point of the four cases. It involved
changes to sentencing guidelines that provided higher
recommended sentencing ranges at the time of sentencing than at
the time when the crime was committed. *Peugh v. United States*, 133
S. Ct. 2072 (2013). Only in *Peugh* was there a meaningful distinction
between the sentencing framework in place when the crime was
committed and when the sentence was imposed. But in *Peugh* the

change to sentencing guidelines took place between the time the act was committed and when the defendant was sentenced, which was unconstitutional.

The Warden pulls language from a dissent in the case to argue that "The *Peugh* Court stated that the ex post facto inquiry does not 'hinge on the expectations that prisoners and defendants have about how many days they will spend in prison.'" (Brief at 13, *quoting Peugh v. United States*, 133 S. Ct. 2072, 2094 (2013) (Thomas, J.

dissenting).) The problem with this language is that it comes from a dissent that the Court *rejected* and that even the other dissenters were unwilling to join. Expectations *do* matter in the *ex post facto* context. *Peugh*, 133 S. Ct. 2072; *Dobbert v. Florida*, 432 U.S. 282 (1977); *Weaver v. Graham*, 450 U.S. 24. Those expectations drive whether a person expects to be punished and how much he expects to be punished when he commits an act or when he pleads guilty. The expectations also drive plea negotiations. *Weaver*, 450 U.S. at 32.

In short, none of the Warden's cases says a thing about the situation presented by his cross petition. *Ex post facto* law develops "by an accretion of case law." *Dobbert*, 432 U.S. at 292. And under that accretion, the clauses prevent a legislature from increasing a sentence after it has already been imposed following a guilty plea. *Weaver*, 450 U.S. at 32.

Ultimately, as discussed above, Mr. Singh is entitled to habeas relief in any event, and the Court of Appeals should be affirmed, as modified, on the Warden's best day. But since Mr. Singh is entitled to relief in any event, the "five words" that the Warden challenges are not essential to its decision. It would be trivial for this Court to assess the specific positive-adjustment-time calculation to which Mr. Singh was entitled. That is particularly so given Mr. Singh's circumstances—his other sentence, and his current status of having been released from prison. The time of sentencing matters for *ex post facto* analysis, particularly when the Legislature seeks to take away, retroactively, the right to early release from people who pleaded guilty under a system that entitled them to early release. The Legislature's actions here were unconstitutional, even as to Mr. Singh's Waukesha County conviction.

III. THE WARDEN DOES NOT CHALLENGE THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION ON THE ISSUES IN THE CROSS PETITION IN ANY OTHER WAY.

The Warden has not in any other way challenged the decision of the Court of Appeals, including regarding Mr. Singh's 2011 conviction in Milwaukee County Case No. 11CF4004. And it is too late for him to challenge it on reply. *State v. Mechtel*, 176 Wis. 2d 87, 100, 499 N.W.2d 662 (1993) ("We do not generally address arguments raised for the first time in reply briefs."). Thus, even if the Court were to agree with the Warden about Mr. Singh's 2008 conviction and engage in the error correcting that the Warden invites it to do, the result should still be affirmance of the Court of Appeals' holding and adoption of all but five words of its analysis.

It is not surprising that the Warden has abandoned the issue he raised in the petition for review and is no longer challenging the heart of the Court of Appeals decision, including the applicability of the *ex post facto* clauses to Mr. Singh's conviction in Milwaukee County Case No. 11CF4004. The Court of Appeals applied nearly a century of precedent from this Court and from the United States Supreme Court. These cases clearly hold that taking away good time credit from inmates retroactively, including the right to earn good time throughout a sentence, violates the *ex post facto* clauses. *E.g., Weaver v. Graham,* 450 U.S. 24; *State ex rel. Mueller v. Powers,* 64 Wis. 2d 643.

CONCLUSION

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